SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-823

SOLVEIG EDNA HILL,

Petitioner,

VS.

DOUGLAS DAVIS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Kristine E. Davis, deceased,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, CASE NO. 1D09-4020

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

H. GUY GREEN Fla. Bar No. 153300 4387 Clinton Street Marianna, Florida 32446 (850) 526-3707 (850) 526-5810 (fax) LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM Fla. Bar No. 194435 LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM, P.A. 4300 Bayou Boulevard, Suite 36 Pensacola, Florida 32503 (850) 475-1211 Irosenbloum@rosenbloumlaw.com

Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Solveig Edna Hill, appellant below, seeks review of the decision of the District Court of Appeal, First District, in <u>Hill v. Davis</u>, Case No. 1D09-4020 (Fla. 1st DCA March 31, 2010), based on certified conflict with a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, <u>Angelus v. Pass</u>, 868 So. 2d 571(Fla. 3d DCA 2004).

The district court summarized the procedural history and operative facts of

this case as follows:

Following the decedent's death in Florida, appellee [respondent in this Court], a resident of New York, filed a petition for administration which claimed that he was entitled to be appointed the personal representative of the decedent's estate because he was the decedent's stepson and was nominated representative in the decedent's will. The trial court subsequently appointed appellee as personal representative and admitted the proffered will to probate. Appellee published the notice of administration and served a copy on appellant who was the decedent's Appellant then filed two motions to have mother. appellee removed as personal representative on the ground he was not qualified to serve as a nonresident personal representative pursuant to section 733.304(3), Florida Statutes (2007),¹ because appellee's father had

¹ Section 733.304, Florida Statutes (2007), provides:

A person who is not domiciled in the state cannot qualify as personal representative unless the person is:

⁽¹⁾ A legally adopted child or adoptive parent of the decedent;

predeceased the decedent and was not the decedent's spouse at the time of her death and, therefore, appellee was not a lineal descendent of a spouse of the decedent. Appellee responded by moving to strike appellant's motions as untimely because they were not filed within three months after service of the notice of administration as required by section 733.212(3), Florida Statutes (2007)² He also asserted that he was qualified to serve as personal representative because section 733.304(3) did not limit service by nonresidents to lineal descendants of a surviving spouse. The trial court denied appellant's motions to disqualify upon concluding that appellee qualified as a nonresident personal representative pursuant to section 733.304(3). The court also found that appellant's motions to disqualify were made more than three months after service of the notice of administration. but did not indicate whether this finding was a ground for its ruling. This appeal follows.

(2) Related by lineal consanguinity to the decedent;

(3) A spouse or a brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew, or niece of the decedent, or someone related by lineal consanguinity to any such person; or

(4) The spouse of a person otherwise qualified under this section.

² Section 733.212(3), Florida Statutes (2007), provides:

Any interested person on whom a copy of the notice of administration is served must object to the validity of the will, the qualifications of the personal representative, the venue, or the jurisdiction of the court by filing a petition or other pleading requesting relief in accordance with the Florida Probate Rules on or before the date that is 3 months after the date of service of a copy of the notice of administration on the objecting person, or those objections are forever barred. <u>Hill</u>, slip op. at 2-3 (footnotes added).

On appeal, Hill argued the trial court erred in concluding respondent was qualified to serve as a nonresident personal representative under section 733.304 (3), Florida Statutes (2007). See Hill, slip. op. at 2. In affirming the trial court's order, the district court declined to address Hill's argument on the merits, concluding instead "that appellant's motions to disqualify appellee as personal representative were time barred pursuant to section 733.212(3), Florida Statutes (2007)." Id. In reaching this conclusion, the district court disagreed with Angelus v. Pass, 868 So. 2d 571(Fla. 3d DCA 2004), in which the Third District held the three-month statute of limitations contained in section 733.212(3) does not bar an untimely motion challenging the qualifications of a personal representative who was never eligible to serve. See Angelus, 868 So. 2d at 772-73. The court below certified conflict with Angelus. See Hill, slip op. at 6 ("We also certify conflict with Angelus.").

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In <u>Angelus</u>, the Third District held the three-month statute of limitations period contained in section 733.212(3), Florida Statutes, does not bar a petition to remove a nonresident personal representative who was never eligible under section 733.304, Florida Statutes, to serve in that capacity at any time. On the other hand, the First District in <u>Hill</u> disagreed with <u>Angelus</u> and held that section 733.212(3), Florida Statutes, bars an untimely petition to remove a nonresident personal representative even though the nonresident personal representative was never qualified to serve under section 733.304, Florida Statutes.

The two decisions are irreconcilable and thus create jurisdictional conflict.

ARGUMENT

I. As certified by the court below, the district court decision expressly and directly conflicts with <u>Angelus v. Pass</u>, 868 So. 2d 571 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004), concerning the issue whether the threemonth statute of limitations found in section 733.212(3), Florida Statutes, bars an untimely petition to remove a nonresident personal representative who was never qualified to serve.

In <u>Angelus</u>, decedent's son (Angelus) filed a motion to disqualify the nonresident personal representative (Pass) well beyond the three-month limitation contained in section 733.212(3), Florida Statutes. Although the nonresident personal representative was not qualified to serve (he was the nephew of the deceased's first and second wives, both of whom predeceased decedent), the trial court denied the motion as untimely filed.

In reversing, the Third District "disagree[d] with the conclusion that Section 733.212 can be applied to allow a legally unqualified personal representative to escape the requirements of Section 733.304" <u>Angelus</u>, 868 So. 2d at 272. In other words, "[t]he three-month statute of limitations period contained in Section 733.212(3) does not apply to bar Angelus's petition because Pass was never legally qualified to serve as personal representative at any time." <u>Id</u>. at 273.

The <u>Angelus</u> court also found the trial court's ruling inconsistent with Florida Probate Rule 5.310 which requires an unqualified personal representative to immediately notify interested persons of their right to petition for his or her removal as personal representative. <u>See Angelus</u>, 868 So. 2d at 273. Rule 5.310 provides:

> Any personal representative who was not qualified to act at the time of appointment or who would not be qualified for appointment if application for appointment were then made shall immediately file and serve on all interested persons a notice describing:

> (a) the reason the personal representative was not qualified at the time of appointment; or

(b) the reason the personal representative would not be qualified for appointment if application for appointment were then made and the date on which the disqualifying event occurred.

The personal representative's notice shall state that any interested person may petition to remove the personal representative.

Concerning the relationship between section 733.212(3) and Florida Probate Rule

5.310, the <u>Angelus</u> court found "no basis to engraft the three-month limitation of the commencing administration statute onto the explicit provisions of the qualifications statute nor upon Rule 5.310, particularly where the applicant was never otherwise legally qualified to serve." <u>Angelus</u>, 868 So. 2d at 272. The court explained further:

To do so would render Rule 5.310 meaningless and would improperly shift the burden of discovery of an applicant's misrepresentations to the court and interested parties. Such a result would be antithetical to the policy of requiring personal representatives to hold specific qualifications and to be held to the highest standards of honesty and truthfulness. Simply, Section 733.212(3) does not provide the trial court with discretion to allow a legally unqualified person the privilege to serve as personal representative.

<u>Id</u>.

Although the facts of this case are not materially distinguishable from those

in Angelus, the Hill court declined to follow Angelus based on the following

rationale:

However, we disagree with the sweeping holding in Angelus because it effectively renders part of section 733.212(3) meaningless. See State v. Goode, 830 So. 2d 817, 824 (Fla. 2002) ("[A] basic rule of statutory construction provides that the Legislature does not intend to enact useless provisions, and courts should avoid readings that would render part of а statute meaningless"). The statute clearly states that interested persons such as appellant "must object to . . . the qualifications of the personal representative" within three months of the service of the notice of administration or such an objection is "forever barred." A claim that a nonresident is not qualified to serve as a personal representative pursuant to section 733.304 is an objection to "the qualifications of the personal representative" and should be subject to the clear and unambiguous provisions of section 733.212(3). Although section 733.212(3) and section 733.304 are found in separate parts of the Florida Probate Code, statutes which relate to the same or closely related subjects should be construed together. See Alachua County v. Powers, 351 So. 2d 32,

40 (Fla. 1977); Smith v. Crawford, 645 So. 2d 513, 522 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Contrary to the Third District's decision in Angelus, we find nothing in Florida Probate Rule 5.310 or sections 733.304 and 733.3101, Florida Statutes, which would preclude the application of the three-month statute of limitations period contained in section 733.212(3) to appellant's claim that appellee was not qualified to serve as a nonresident personal representative pursuant to section 733.304 where the factual basis for the claim was known to appellant and could have been raised within the three-month period. This is not a situation where the factual basis for the claim of disqualification was concealed from appellant or arose after the three-month period had expired. Because appellant's motions to disqualify appellee as personal barred representative time under section were 733.212(3), we affirm the trial court's denial of the motions on that basis. We also certify conflict with Angelus. In light of this disposition, it is unnecessary for us to decide whether appellee was qualified to serve as a nonresident personal representative pursuant to section 733.304(3).

Hill, slip op. at 5-6.

As certified by the court below, <u>Hill</u> and <u>Angelus</u> reached the opposite conclusion on the same point of law based on the same essential facts. The two decisions are "irreconcilable" and thus create express and direct conflict. <u>See Aravena v. Miami-Dade Cty.</u>, 928 So. 2d 1163, 1166-67 (Fla. 2006).

CONCLUSION

This Court should accept jurisdiction and decide the case on the merits.