IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC 10-823

SOLVEIG EDNA HILL,

Petitioner,

vs.

DCA Case No. 1D09-4020 L.T. No. 07-185 PR

DOUGLAS DAVIS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Kristine E. Davis, deceased,

Respondent.

# ON REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

## RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF REGARDING JURISDICTION

FRANK A. BAKER, ESQ. 4431 Lafayette Street Marianna, Florida 32446 (850) 526-3633 Fla. Bar No. 0209791 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

Steven Lenoff, Esq. 1761 W Hillsboro Blvd Ste 405 Deerfield Beach, FL 33442 (954) 427-9500 Florida Bar No. 438286 Co-counsel for respondent

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a review taken from a decision of the First District Court of Appeal in *Hill v. Davis*, 31 So.2d 921 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2010). In this brief, petitioner SOLVEIG EDNA HILL will be referred to as petitioner. Respondent DOUGLAS DAVIS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Kristine E. Davis, deceased, will be referred to as DOUGLAS or "the Personal Representative". The decedent will be referred to as "the decedent" or KRISTINE. References to the pleadings in the record on appeal will be to "R-[volume number]-[page number]".. Unless otherwise stated, the author of this brief has not supplied any emphasis to quotes.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts omits the First District's recognition of material factual distinctions between *Hill* and *Angelus*:

In her Statement (p. 3), petitioner quotes only a portion of the decision in *Hill* below. The remainder of the decision reflects that the panel below "disagreed with the sweeping holding in *Angelus.*" The First District, below, noted that . . . [t]his is not a situation where the factual basis for the claim of disqualification was concealed from appellant or arose after the three-month period [in Fla. St. section 733.212(3)] had expired . . . ,"

distinguishing the case at bar from Angelus.

The respondent does, however, acknowledge that the district court below itself certified conflict with *Angelus*.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE ТΟ EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION, BECAUSE THE DECISIONS IN ANGELUS v. PASS AND IN THE DISTRICT COURT BELOW ARE NOT IRRECONCILABLE. In Angelus v. Pass, 868 So.2d 571 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004), relied on for conflict by petitioner and the district court below, (a) the personal representative, in order to procure his appointment, falsely stated under oath that he was a nephew of the decedent, and (b) the personal representative was never qualified to serve, because he was a non-resident and related only by collateral consanguinity (rather than lineal consanguinity as required under law).

In the case at bar, as expressly reflected in the decision below, this case does not present a situation where (a) the factual basis for the disqualification was not known to petitioner, was concealed from the petitioner or the trial court, or the appointment procured by false statements under oath, or (b)the Personal Representative was disqualified *ab initio* under the requirements of section 733.304.

Because of these material factual distinctions, there is no irreconcilable conflict between *Angelus v. Pass* and the district court decision herein, and jurisdiction should be declined.

#### ARGUMENT

In her petition and brief supporting this Court's jurisdiction, petitioner contends that the decision below irreconcilably conflicts

2

with Angelus v. Pass, within the meaning of Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution. It is a conflict of "decisions", rather than of opinions or reasoning, which supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari. Gibson v. Maloney, 231 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1970). Where a cause is before this Court based on an apparent conflict between the decision therein and that of another district court, but the action is distinguishable on its facts from the case cited in conflict, this Court should decline jurisdiction. Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1983). Because of case-dispositive differences between the operative facts of Angelus and those in the case at bar, no irreconcilable conflict exists, and jurisdiction should be declined.

The "decision" in Angelus can properly be characterized as this: Where an unqualified non-resident personal representative procures his appointment by falsely stating (under oath) that he is related within the necessary degree to the decedent, then the three-month period in Fla. St. section 733.212 does not operate to bar the removal of the fraudulently-appointed unqualified person under section 733.304. In arriving at that result, the Angelus panel expressly noted that there was a continuing statutory and procedural obligation on the personal representative - a "fiduciary" obligation, in the words of the Third District panel - to provide notice in the event that s/he is not qualified to serve. Angelus, 868 So.2d at 572-573.

Fla. Probate Rule 5.310 places the burden on the personal representative, as a fiduciary, to provide notice in the event the personal representative is not qualified to

3

serve.

Thus, in Angelus, not only did the unqualified personal representative fraudulently induce the probate court to appoint him in the first place, by false statement under oath, but he failed to live up to his obligations to provide notice to the probate court and interested parties of his lack of qualification, a fact apparently known only to him.

Conversely, in the case at bar, the relationship of the personal representative as the son of the decedent's deceased spouse was well understood by the petitioner and the probate court from the inception of the case. Further, the respondent personal representative made no misstatement of fact to the probate court in order to gain his appointment, or to induce the petitioner HILL to forego her right to challenge that appointment, or to delay petitioner HILL in the assertion of her rights.

This distinction was noted by the panel below:

This is not a situation where the factual basis for the claim of disqualification was concealed from appellant [petitioner HILL] or arose after the three-month period had expired.

Hill, 31 So.3d at 924.

The decision below was that, where the personal representative did not procure his appointment fraudulently, the three-month time period in section 733.212 should apply. The decision in *Angelus* was that, where the unqualified personal representative obtained his position by false statement under oath, the time for correcting that

4

fraud upon the court cannot run when the personal representative has not complied with his fiduciary obligation under rule to report his lack of qualification to all interested parties and to the probate court.

Furthermore, Angelus holds that "the three-month statute of limitations period contained in Section 733.212(3) does not apply to bar Angelus's petition because Pass was never legally qualified to serve as personal representative at any time." Pass was never legally qualified because, as nephew-in-law, he was related only by collateral consanguinity to decedent's spouse. In the case at bar, the Personal Representative, as <u>son-in-law</u> step-son of decedent, is legally qualified because he is related by lineal consanguinity to decedent's spouse as required under Fla. St. section 733.304.

There is no irreconcilable conflict between the decisions in *Angelus* and in the case at bar, and jurisdiction should therefore be declined.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction, as there is no irreconcilable conflict between the decision in Angelus v. Pass and the case at bar.